No. 18-118837-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

State of Kansas, Plaintiff-Appellee,

٧.

Hanbit Chang, Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the District Court of Douglas County
Honorable Sally Pokorny
District Court Case No. 2017-CR-261

THOMPSON WARNER, P.A.
Adam M. Hall #23664
333 West 9th Street, Suite B
Lawrence, Kansas 66044
(785) 841-4554 – Fax: (785) 841-4499
adam.hali@333legal.com

Attorneys for Defendant/Appellant

Oral Argument Requested

NATURE OF THE CASE

This case arises from two university students attending a party, consuming alcohol, leaving the party, going to defendant's dorm room, and voluntarily sharing defendant's bed (even though his out-of-town roommate's bed was unused). While the two shared defendant's bed, defendant touched complainant's breasts and put his hand on her bikini area.

Prior to the party the complainant and defendant had exchanged text messages about complainant taking defendant's virginity. The district court refused to allow defendant to put on the evidence of the text messages, substantively or by impeachment. Defendant contended the text messages, coupled with complainant's decision to spend the night in defendant's room, and her voluntary choice to get into defendant's bed, were evidence of the complainant's consent to the questioned sexual contact.

During closing argument the prosecutor referenced facts beyond the evidence at trial, and argued that defense counsel had "made up" the concept of implied consent.

These errors are cumulative and taken together deprived defendant of his Fair Trial Right.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. <u>Defendant's Right to Present a Defense.</u>

A district court commits constitutional error when it excludes evidence relevant to the defense theory. Here, defendant desired to present evidence that just a few days before he touched complaint's breasts while the complainant voluntarily shared a bed with him, he and the complainant had exchanged text messages about her taking his virginity. The evidence was critical to establishing the defense of consent. Did the district court err in excluding evidence of the text messages about sexual contact, thereby depriving defendant of his defense of consent?

2. <u>DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO CONFRONT WITNESSES.</u>

A district court commits constitutional error when it prevents valid impeachment at trial, because the United States Constitution guarantees that criminal defendants may confront – and impeach – the witnesses against them. Here, the defendant desired to impeach the testimony of the complainant with questions about their recent exchange of sexually-oriented text messages – especially after she testified at trial that she was unaware defendant had any romantic interest in her. Did the district court err when it prevented defense counsel from asking questions and impeaching the complaining witness about the exchange of text messages regarding her taking defendant's virginity?

3. PROSECUTORIAL ERROR.

Criminal defendants are denied a fair trial when a prosecutor misstates the law and the facts such that the jury could have been confused or misled. Here, the prosecutor told the jury several times in closing that the defendant touched the complainant's "vagina," when no evidence supported that statement. Further, the prosecutor told the jury also in closing that there was no such thing as implied consent, when in reality implied consent is a well-established legal concept. Was the defendant denied a fair trial because of the prosecutor's false statements of both law and fact?

4. CUMULATIVE ERROR.

Even if individually harmless to a defendant's Constitutional Fair Trial guarantee, the cumulative effect of trial errors can deny a defendant a fair trial. Here, (i) defendant was unable to present a complete defense due to the trial court's refusal to allow evidence of sexually-oriented text messages; (ii) the prosecutor repeatedly misrepresented to the jury during closing argument the nature of the sexual contact; and (iii) the prosecutor falsely stated that there is no such thing as implied consent. Regardless of whether each of these errors is alone sufficient to warrant a new trial, did the cumulative effect of these errors also deny defendant a fair trial?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Part 1: the alleged criminal conduct

On September 3, 2016, defendant "Joseph" Chang attended a party at Ellsworth Hall with A.S. and other friends, including Erin Sullivan, Jane Azhar, and Keaton Prohaska. (R. Vol. 6, 136-37). The partiers drank alcohol. (R. Vol. 6, 139-40). When the party was winding down, the partiers discussed sleeping arrangements for A.S., who was visiting from out-of-town. (R. Vol. 6, 133, 135, 142-43). Prohaska offered -- "basically begged" -- A.S. to stay in his room, but A.S. declined. (R. Vol. 6, 142-43, 184). Azhar and Sullivan offered to let A.S. stay in their room, but A.S. declined. (R. Vol. 6, 143); see also (R. Vol. 6, 212).

("Q. Did you talk with [A.S.] about -- did she say anything about other places she could stay? A. She mentioned staying in [Chang]'s room."). A.S. did elect to stay in Chang's room at Oliver Hall. (R. Vol. 6, 142-43). A.S. testified:

[Chang]'s roommate, Sam Michaels, was out of town, and I wanted everybody to have a bed, so I said I would stay in [Chang's] room and take Sam's bed.

(R. Vol. 6, 142-43).

Chang and A.S. arrived at Chang's room, and A.S. asked for a change of clothing from Chang. (R. Vol. 6, 146). Chang obliged, giving her a T-shirt and sweatpants. (R. Vol. 6, 146-47). A.S. asked Chang to turn around while she changed clothes in his room. (R. Vol. 6, 147-48, 188-89). A.S. then elected to get into Chang's bed. (R. Vol. 6, 149). There was dispute at trial as to how that came about. A.S. claimed Michaels' bed did not have sheets on it, so Chang's bed was chosen by default. (R. Vol. 6, 149). But Michaels testified that he did not remove

his bed sheets prior to leaving town, and that the bedding was still on the bed when he returned to the room days later. (R. Vol. 7, 291-92).

In any event, A.S. got into Chang's bed -- a twin bed -- and asked Chang the whereabouts of a painting that she had made for him as a memento of a road trip they had taken together. (R. Vol. 6, 149-50, 173, 179). Chang told her it was on a nearby desk, and he showed it to her. (R. Vol. 6, 150). A.S. took the picture from Chang and told him he should put it right on top of his bed. (R. Vol. 6, 150). A.S. and Chang then lay next to one another, looking at the painting (which A.S. had positioned above the bed on some pipes), when Chang said he wanted to watch a movie. (R. Vol. 6, 150-51). Chang started the movie on a laptop and brought it to the pillow. (R. Vol. 6, 152-53). A.S. tired of the movie quickly, though, and she smacked her hand on the laptop. (R. Vol. 6, 153). Chang shut the laptop, put it on his desk, and lay back down in his bed with A.S. (R. Vol. 6, 154).

A.S. changed positions to give Chang more room on the bed. (R. Vol. 6, 154).

A.S. testified that she chose to stay in Chang's bed at this point because:

"I didn't want to move. I was just wanting to go to bed. I didn't think anything of it."

(R. Vol. 6, 154). A.S.'s testimony about what happened next was that she believed she was asleep and she awoke to Chang touching her breasts and then her bikini area, before suddenly stopping. (R. Vol. 6, 155-58, 204). A.S. pretended to be asleep during the touching. (R. Vol. 6, 157-58). She made no verbal protest to the touching. (R. Vol. 6, 194). After the touching ended, she pretended to wake up and then left Chang's room. (R. Vol. 6, 158).

Azhar testified that she was awakened in her room at 4:00 a.m. to discover A.S. and Sullivan talking while seated on the floor. (R. Vol. 6, 213). A.S. was crying and Sullivan was trying to comfort her. (R. Vol. 6, 214). The first thing A.S. said to Azhar was "[t]ell me, was I with [Chang] just now"? (R. Vol. 6, 214). A.S. kept saying that and asking that. (R. Vol. 6, 214). Azhar and A.S. reported this incident to the dormitory staff as a sexual assault. (R. Vol. 6, 217-18). A University (Title IX) investigation (R. Vol. 6, 234-35) and criminal investigation (R. Vol. 7, 296) both followed.

Hanbit "Joseph" Chang was convicted of sexual battery after a jury trial in the Douglas County, Kansas District Court. (R. Vol. 7, 408).

Part 2: trial proceedings and argument

On the morning of the first day of trial, the State filed a motion *in limine*. (R. Vol. 1, 18). The motion sought to exclude from evidence, relevantly:

- 1. a prior statement made by the defendant that he and A.S. spoke previously about getting together, and A.S. said she would if she was drunk; and
- 2. a text message from several days before the incident wherein the defendant asked A.S. to take his virginity.

(R. Vol. 1, 18-19).

The State argued:

"The second one is a text message from the defendant to the victim some days before the incident in question where he brings up the topic of her taking his virginity. She –

THE COURT: Of her what?

MR. SIMPSON: Taking his virginity. She says -- she declines. And that is evidence that -- it's not relevant because it doesn't go to any of the elements of the crime to have to be proved or disproved or called into

question by the defense, and so it should be excluded. I mean, it doesn't - what it does is it sort of paints a picture of, well, maybe she shouldn't have been around him, she knew he was interested in her. None of that goes to whether she consented or not, which is one of the elements of the crime. So the State's position is that that sort of evidence is not relevant and directs the jury away from the elements of the crime that they are supposed to look at."

(R. Vol. 5, 4-5). In response, defense counsel argued:

"The second one is my main problem. I object strenuously. The evidence in the case is, and the investigation shows, and, in fact, it's listed in the State's Motion in Limine that the victim spoke previously about getting together and that she said she would if she was drunk, which is testimony that needs to be elicited. The issue here is consent, and consent is not defined in Kansas. It's not going to be defined in the instructions to the jury. Consent can be implied consent. It could be verbal consent. It could be physical consent. So that is the issue, and that is what we need to be able to delve into.

Detective Campbell in this case in his report says that this alleged victim said she received several strange texts from Chang days prior to the incident and some of them were sexual in nature. She admits that he asked to take her virginity, and she was aware of it. She was aware of his attraction to her. She was aware of his romantic attraction to her. And if we can't -- if we are disallowed to get into this, it cuts off the defense at its knees. Not that we want to bring it into -- as the State argues, to state that she should have known better, but just to put the whole night in context. What preceded it, what happened, what came after, it's all context and it all bears on whether it was implied consent in this case.

So I ask the Court strenuously to allow that testimony to come in. It's going to come in from Ms. Ananda, Detective Campbell, from the victim herself -- the alleged victim, and Mr. Chang."

(R. Vol. 5, 6-8). The district court found and concluded:

"So as far as number two, you know, I am granting that. This just smacks to me of, you know, a woman saying no is not really a no, and in order for a woman to -- no to mean no, that means she never -- can never have contact with you again, because, obviously, if she wants to still hang around with you, it must mean that in her heart, she really wants to have sex with you.

MR. FRYDMAN: You are granting the State's motion?

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. FRYDMAN: The evidence is going to be –

THE COURT: "I want you to take my virginity." "No," she says. But this means to him maybe -- maybe you do.

MR. FRYDMAN: But his testimony was she didn't say no, but she said, "Yes, if I get drunk," or something to that effect. Then she goes to his room alone to spend the night; and for the jury not to know what preceded it, I think it is just improper to disallow that.

THE COURT: I understand that, but my ruling is that -- he can say, you know, "She came to my room, she came alone, said she was coming to spend the night." I mean, all that will come in. Jury can draw whatever inference they want from that, but –

MR. FRYDMAN: And he can't say, "And she knew because I told her days before that I wanted to have sex with her and I wanted her to take my virginity"?

THE COURT: Well, you know, this comes into sort of what we are struggling with as a society right now. You go in to talk to your boss about a raise. And he says, "Well, yeah, if you have sex with me." And then you say, "Well, no, I won't have sex," but you still keep working for him and you still keep hanging around him. Then does that mean that, well, you are kind of thinking about it, because, otherwise, you would have just quit your job and totally separated yourself from that position.

MR. FRYDMAN: In every case, as far as I know, in America that is on the news, it all involved a man having power over a woman: their boss, their Congressperson, the President. These are just two college freshmen, no power at all. No evidence of any coercion or any fear or any pressure or any threats of any kind. So it's a totally different scenario than what the Court is indicating.

THE COURT: Well, it is the same scenario to me -- and I understand your power argument -- but it is still then anybody who has ever expressed any sexual interest in you, then you must just never hang around with them again; otherwise, you are asking for it.

MR. FRYDMAN: Well, the State, of course, can make that argument. That is their prerogative. But for us not to be able to bring it up and -- yeah, they can counter it; but if we can't address it, it's like the elephant in the room that you can't look at it and they can't know about that.

I understand the 15 years as a sexual offender registry, that that is not within their prerogative or their purview, but to not know that she came to town and came out with him and spent the night in his room with the knowledge that his intent was to have sex with her, it's improper. Your Honor, I know why the State wants it out, because it is damaging to them. But, again, it's not that she deserved -- I am not going to say she deserved what happened or that -- as they say, that she should have known better, but it's just part of the whole context of everything and it should be allowed.

THE COURT: Well, once again, I see that it's a variation of evidence of a complaining witness' previous sexual conduct. Even one's previous sexual conduct with the person that you are now saying has sexually battered you or raped you is not automatically admissible.

MR. FRYDMAN: Right. But this is going to allow the State to argue that they never had sex before and they had no romantic inclinations before, that they were just friends, and next thing they know, he is touching her. So, again, without the allowance of what came before and what she knew and what he had told her and her response, it allows the State to make arguments that I have a lot of trouble refuting because the Court is disallowing us.

THE COURT: Still my ruling.

(R. Vol. 5, 10-14).

A.S. testified at the trial. During A.S.'s direct testimony, the following colloquy occurred:

- Q. And I want to take you back a little bit, Ms. S[]. When he touched your breasts, did you want Mr. Chang to touch your breasts?
- A. No.
- Q. Had you ever said it was okay if he did?
- A. No.
- Q. And did you want Mr. Chang to touch your vagina, your pubic area?
- A. No.
- Q. Had you ever said to him that he could?
- A. No. No, never.
- Q. Did he ever ask if he could touch your breasts or your vagina?
- A. No
- Q. When Mr. Chang touched your breasts and your vagina area, was that something that you expected to have happen?
- A. Never.

Q. Why not?

A. Because he never made advances in the past at all.

(R. Vol. 6, 159). Following the direct testimony, defense counsel requested a bench conference to address whether A.S. had opened the door to previously-excluded evidence:

MR. FRYDMAN: In Ms. S[]'s direct testimony, she said he never previously made a pass at all, and we know he did make a pass.

THE COURT: We do?

MR. FRYDMAN: By sending her a text he wants to sleep with her and wants to take her -- her to take his virginity, that is a pass. I think it opened the door.

MR. SIMPSON: Judge, I don't think it does open the door. I think -- I don't recall her answer being exactly that, so I would think we would want to look at the transcript before saying that opened the door, but I don't recall anything that opened the door.

MR. FRYDMAN: We can take a break and get a readback. My note is "never made a pass at all."

THE COURT: That is what I wrote down.

MR. SIMPSON: Made an advance. Judge, I recall that. I took that as a -- that was in the context, I believe, of the -- he didn't ever make a physical advance. That is different than what Mr. Frydman is talking about, never made advances. I take that to mean he never hit on her and never approached her.

MR. FRYDMAN: If saying you want to have sex with someone is not hitting on her, I don't know what is.

THE COURT: I think Mr. Frydman has -- can ask her to clarify that and why it's an advance or not an advance, so you can cross-examine her on that.

MR. FRYDMAN: I can ask her if it was an advance in the text he sent her?

THE COURT: Yeah.

MR. SIMPSON: Judge, would he be able to ask her what she said, he never made an advance before, what does she mean by that? If he says don't you think this text was an advance, then there is no point -- he is just going there. I think the clarification needs to be what does she mean by advance, because if

she says he never talked about anything, then, yeah, that probably opens the door. But if she says he never tried to touch me, then I don't think it does. If the Court's ruling is we are not sure if the door has been opened, then I think clarification of what she means is what we should do.

THE COURT: Let's start there with the clarification.

MR. FRYDMAN: For the record, I object. I think the door is open. THE COURT: Start there and we will see where we are going.

(R. Vol. 6, 174-76). Consistent with the Court's directive, defense counsel

inquired:

Q. (By Mr. Frydman) Ms. S[], thank you for your patience. When Mr. Simpson asked you questions on direct examination, the answer to one of his questions, you said, "He never previously had made a pass to me at all." What did you mean by that?

A. He never tried to kiss me or anything. The most that we ever did was hug.

Q. He never made any type of statement or text to you that considered-

MR. SIMPSON: Judge, Mr. Frydman is not following the order.

THE COURT: You need to approach.

(The following proceedings were had at the bench.)

MR. SIMPSON: I am confused as to why Mr. Frydman just did the thing he was not supposed to do. It's beyond me.

MR. FRYDMAN: I didn't talk about a specific text. I am just trying to inquire about if that is considered a pass. If she is now saying that a pass was a physical pass, doesn't mean that this text wasn't also a pass in her mind.

THE COURT: Well, I think the issue was what did she mean, and that is clarified now. She meant there was nothing ever physical, and she has confirmed that. Now I think we need to stop there.

(The following proceedings continued in open court.)

Q. (By Mr. Frydman) Ms. S[], didn't you have reason to believe that [Chang] was romantically attracted to you when you came to Lawrence on Labor Day? A. No.

(R. Vol. 6, 176-77). When this issue was raised again, the Court clarified the rationale for its earlier ruling:

THE COURT: Okay. The problem is we are dealing with a normal human act, sexual intercourse, that then has components of criminality under certain circumstances. We treat -- it seems to be that we treat sex crimes in a whole different light than any other crime. So I want you to envision this. I text you, Mr. Frydman, that I am broke and that I need some money from you. And you text back, "Yeah, when I'm drunk." And then I go to your house, and we have some drinks, and then I pull your wallet out and take your money and leave. Now, did you consent because you said, "Yeah, when I am drunk to me taking your money"? I don't think so. This is the other problem, too, with saying that somebody has consented to something by text. Text has no emotion. You can't tell the context from any text. You know -- and I have to look at this based upon the evidence that we have already presented here. How do you consent when you are asleep? And that is what the testimony has been, she was asleep. Yeah, I consented.

MR. FRYDMAN: Well, but then the testimony is varied on that. It's malleable. She believed she was asleep, she was awake, she was asleep, she wasn't in a deep sleep, she woke up several times. So it's arguable. And, obviously, you are making a distinct case for them. They can make those points to the jury in rebuttal of my arguments and our case.

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