No. 18-118,837-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS Plaintiff-Appellee

Vs

HANBIT CHANG Defendant-Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Appeal from the District Court of Douglas County, Kansas Honorable Sally Pokorny, Judge District Court Case No. 17 CR 261

> Kate Duncan Butler, # 25994 Assistant District Attorney Douglas County District Attorney's Office Ill E Ilth Street Lawrence, Kansas 66044 Phone (785) 841-0211 Fax: (785) 832-08202 kbutler@douglascountyks.org daappeals@douglascountyks.org

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

Third, an individual consents to sexual contact like the touching in this case or they do not. Sexual battery requires only that the victim does not consent; there is no requirement that the defendant know that the victim is not consenting. K.S.A. 2018 Supp. 21-5505(a), (c). Chang continues to insist that his defense relied on implied consent—that is, the notion that A.S.'s behavior demonstrated that he could touch her sexually on the night in question. The overall thrust of his argument, however, is that he had every reason to think that A.S. consented even if, internally, she did not. But regardless of how Chang interpreted A.S.'s behavior, the fact remains that he touched her entirely without her permission while she slept. This fact is not altered by the earlier text messages. The prosecutor put it best:

"[A.S.'s] knowledge about him having some sort of attraction, whether it be him asking . . . for her to take his virginity or him having a crush on her or him feeling physically attracted to her . . . none of that is relevant towards any of the elements in the case." (R. VI, 271.)

In the end, consent requires voluntary yielding, approval, or permission. See Black's Law Dictionary 368 (10th ed. 2014). It is not permanent; even the most explicit and enthusiastic consent can be withdrawn at any time. See *State v. Flynn*, 299 Kan. 1052, Syl. ¶ 1, 329 P.3d 429 (2014) (observing that nonconsensual sexual intercourse is accomplished 'when a person communicates his or her withdrawal of consent after penetration and the other person continues the intercourse through compulsion'). In light of these principles, it is clear that text messages where A.S. demurred sexual contact weeks before the night in question have no bearing on the issue of consent.

But even if the district court abused its discretion in excluding this testimony, the error is clearly harmless. The exclusion of evidence requires reversal only when "there is a reasonable

probability that the error . . . affect[ed] the outcome of the trial in light of the entire record." *State v. Longstaff*, 296 Kan. 884, 895, 299 P.3d 268 (2013). Text messages or no, Chang still presented a robust consent defense at trial. He testified that he believed A.S. knew that he had feelings for her, and he detailed all the ways in which her behavior suggested that she consented to his touching. In the past, our Kansas courts have found that excluding certain evidence did not prevent the defendant from presenting their theory of the case when they still had the opportunity to testify about the same information. See, e.g., *Bridges*, 297 Kan. at 998; *State v. Gaona*, 293 Kan. 930, 954, 270 P.3d 1165 (2012).

At trial, the jury weighed this evidence against A.S.'s account of the night: her desire to sleep, her shock at waking up to Chang's hands, her fleeing the room and immediately disclosing the assault to her friends. (R. VI, 151-56, 158-59, 213-25.) They also heard Chang admit that A.S. had never expressly told him that he could touch her in that manner, and he recognized that she did not actually respond when he fondled her breasts or shoved his hands in her pants. (R. VII, 332, 342-44.) And, perhaps most importantly, A.S. testified that she never consented and that she had actually been asleep when Chang initially groped her breasts. (R. VI, 154-56, 159.)

Evidence from other sources also supported A.S.'s testimony. For example, Azhar remembered A.S. crying hysterically after she left Chang's room, and she detailed a text message where Chang apologized for his behavior. (R. VI, 213-15.) The investigator from the university recounted A.S.'s statement, which substantially matched her account of the night in question. (R. VI, 237-41.) As such, and considering that Chang still had an opportunity to argue consent, the district court did not abuse its discretion by excluding these communications.

II. The district court properly limited Chang from cross-examining A.S. about their earlier conversations.

Similarly, Chang insists that the district court committed reversible error by not allowing him to cross-examine A.S. about the sexual text messages. (Appellant's Brief, 20-22.) For the most part, the district court has discretion to set reasonable limits on cross-examination. State v. Wells, 296 Kan. 65, 86, 290 P.3d 590 (2012). In fact, the United States Supreme Court has held that trial courts have "wide latitude . . . to impose reasonable limits on such cross-examination based on concerns about . . . harassment, prejudice, confusion of the issues . . . or interrogation that is repetitive or only marginally relevant." Delaware v. VanArsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679, 106 S. Ct. 1431, 89 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1986). This principle applies to cross-examination for impeachment purposes, as well. State v. Sampson, 297 Kan. 288, 301, 301 P.3d 276 (2013). And impeachment or not, when a district court's decision to limit cross-examination is challenged on appeal, it is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Tague, 296 Kan. 993, 1005, 298 P.3d 273 (2013).

On appeal, Chang argues that A.S. opened the door to impeachment with the text messages twice: first, when she said Chang "had never made advances in the past at all," and second, when she said she had no reason to believe he had a romantic interest in her. (Appellant's Brief, 21-22; R. VI, 159, 172-73, 177-78, 193-94.) Importantly, however, the evidence presented in cross-examination is still required to be admissible—and, by extension, relevant. *Tague*, 296 Kan. at 1005; *State v. Stafford*, 296 Kan. 25, 44, 290 P.3d 562 (2012). Credibility is always relevant at trial. See *State v. Ross*, 280 Kan. 878, 886, 127 P.3d 249 (2006).

That said, the text messages are not at all relevant to impeach A.S. on the lack of advances from Chang. A.S. clarified that, to her, *advances* referred to physical overtures. (R. VI, 176.) She specifically testified that Chang had never tried to kiss her, limiting their contact to

hugs. (R. VI, 176.) No matter their contents, text messages do not qualify as the advances she described. The existence of these messages does little to prove that she lied about the lack of advances; at best, they are consistent with her testimony that Chang never pursed her physically.

As for her remark that she had no reason to believe that Chang had a romantic interest in her, Chang never tried to introduce the text messages to impeach that particular element of her testimony. (R. VI, 177.) Instead, he immediately transitioned into asking unrelated questions about her romantic life, her contacts with Chang, and the plan for that evening. (R. VI, 177-78.) In other words, Chang never raised this particular argument with the district court. Absent certain exceptions, our appellate courts will not consider an issue for the first time on appeal. State v. Godfrey, 301 Kan. 1041, 1043, 350 P.3d 1068 (2015). To invoke one of those exceptions, the appealing party must provide "an explanation why the issue is properly before the court." 301 Kan. at 1043. As Chang is entirely silent on the issue of preservation, he has abandoned this argument. 301 Kan. at 1044.

But, again, the text messages are not connected to A.S.'s credibility on this point. Without the actual messages, it is impossible to know the context surrounding their discussion about engaging in a sexual encounter or A.S. taking Chang's virginity. Expressing a desire to have sex with someone is not the same as demonstrating romantic interest. It is just as likely that Chang asked A.S. to be his first sexual partner because of their long-standing friendship and comfort with one another. Chang even tacitly admitted that he never directly told A.S. how he felt. (R. VII, 320-22.) Chang's suggestion that A.S. lied when she said she had no reason to believe he had a romantic interest in her is not supported by the evidence. As such, the messages have little connection to her credibility. The district court did not abuse its discretion by refusing this impeachment.

Finally, as with the last argument, any error stemming from this decision is clearly harmless. Again, exclusion of this evidence only requires reversal if there exists "a reasonable probability that the error . . . affect[ed] the outcome of the trial in light of the entire record."

Longstaff, 296 Kan. at 895. Throughout the trial, Chang worked hard to discredit A.S.'s account of the night in question; he thoroughly cross-examined the State's witnesses and elicited testimony suggesting that A.S. either lied about or misremembered that night. Put simply, Chang successfully challenged A.S.'s credibility even without this particular piece of evidence. And again, the mere fact that Chang possibly had some romantic or sexual interest in A.S. does not bear on any of the issues in this case. It certainly does not suggest that A.S. consented to him touching her while she slept. As such, the exclusion of irrelevant text messages did not affect the trial's outcome.

III. The prosecutor did not commit reversible error during closing arguments.

In his last substantive issue, Chang argues that the prosecutor misrepresented the facts and misstated the law in his closing argument. (Appellant's Brief, 23-27.) In the recent past, our Supreme Court established an improved two-step framework for evaluating claims of prosecutorial error. *State v. Sherman*, 305 Kan. 88, 106-09, 378 P.3d 1060 (2016). First, "the appellate court must decide whether the prosecutorial acts . . . fall outside the wide latitude afforded to prosecutors." 305 Kan. at 109. If the prosecutor indeed exceeded this latitude, the "court must next determine whether the error prejudiced the defendant []" by applying "the traditional constitutional harmlessness inquiry." 305 Kan. at 109.

Here, Chang claims the prosecutor misstated the evidence when talking about consent. (Appellant's Brief, 23-24.) Specifically, he points to four times that the prosecutor challenged the jury to carefully consider the relationship A.S.'s behavior and consent, asking things like, "But does the fact that [A.S.] is going to sleep in her friend's bed mean that she has consented to

him touching her breasts and vagina?" (R. VII, 374.) Chang's sharp focus on these questions overlooks the greater context of the State's closing argument. Whenever he discussed the actual touching, the prosecutor made clear that Chang never reached A.S.'s vagina. (R. VII, 366, 369.) He only shifted to talking about Chang's obvious goal—that is, actually touching A.S. there—when speaking about consent. (R. VII, 374, 398, 401.) This change is not a misrepresentation of the evidence. Instead, it simply asks the jury if A.S. consented to any of Chang's behavior, including the place he clearly wanted to touch. In fact, A.S. testified that she felt Chang trying to touch her vagina but that she clenched her legs to stop him. (R. VI, 158.) Chang never actually challenged this testimony at trial; if anything, he accepted the premise that he had intended to touch A.S.'s vagina during cross-examination. (R. VII, 339-40.) And, importantly, A.S. testified that she did not consent to him touching either her breasts or vagina. (R. VI, 159.)

It is improper for the prosecutor to argue facts that are not in evidence. *State v. Ly*, 277 Kan. 386, Syl. ¶ 4, 85 P.3d 1200 (2004). That said, challenged comments need to be considered in context rather than isolation. *State v. Pribble*, 304 Kan. 824, 833-84, 375 P.3d 966 (2016). Here, the prosecutor's comments clearly highlight that A.S.'s behavior did not show that she consented to either the actual or aspirational touching. The prosecutor is not misleading or confusing the jury, especially as he accurately describes the actual touching. In short, the prosecutor did not argue facts not in evidence.

As for the alleged misstatement of law, Chang clearly relied on the argument that A.S. consented. The root of his entire defense suggested that by staying over with someone she should have suspected had a romantic interest in her, she permitted the touching. To that end, Chang highlighted all of the behaviors that he believed showed consent: sleeping in his room, borrowing his clothes, changing near him, climbing into his bed, staying still when he touched

her, and not protesting or pushing him away. (R. VII, 380-87.) These social cues, he insisted, indicated that he could touch A.S.'s breasts and reaching into her pants. (R. VII, 385-87.)

In rebuttal, the State challenged this premise:

"Do you believe . . . that this woman got in the bed and that meant he could touch her vagina? No conversation. No talking about it. She is in the bed and that is consent. Is that a reasonable view to have of this situation?

"You know, this implied consent that [defense counsel] talked about, that is not in your instructions. You didn't hear that term. That is a term that he has made up and is using with you. And it's really an argument that is a way of saying, well, she said yes without actually saying yes. Because all the evidence you heard is that not only did she not say yes, but it was never discussed. The defendant just did it to her, took it upon himself and started touching her.

"So there is no such thing as implied consent . . . [T]here is either consent or there is not. Did she consent? I mean, implied consent sounds like a way of saying, well, he thought she consented by her actions. But she told you she didn't consent. And her actions tell you she didn't consent.

"Remember that instruction that said it's not a defense that he wasn't aware she didn't consent. So please keep that in mind. It's not a defense for him to say, 'I thought she consented.'" (Emphasis added.) (R. VII, 398-99.)

After some discussion of A.S.'s behavior that night, the prosecutor returned to the theme of implied consent:

"This idea that, well, maybe he misread her cues. Getting back to this idea that, well, if he thought she consented, then that makes it okay. That doesn't make it okay. It's not about, well, maybe he thought she consented but she really didn't. She didn't consent. That is that element. There is no element that asks was he confused and thought she consented." (R. VII, 403.)

First, as these comments indicate, the prosecutor is not suggesting that an individual cannot consent to sexual activity through their actions instead of their words. Instead, he is pushing back against the most insidious element of Chang's defense: that because A.S.'s behavior suggested to him that she consented, he did not assault her and cannot be held accountable. A.S.'s actual mindset, according to Chang, is more-or-less irrelevant. Placed in this context, it is clear that the prosecutor is explaining that Chang's interpretation of her behavior is irrelevant.

Second, it is unclear if implied consent exists in this particular context. For one, there is no reference to implied consent in the sexual battery statute. K.S.A. 2018 Supp. 21-5505.

Meanwhile, it is well-settled law that a victim's past sexual encounters, including with the defendant, does not demonstrate consent to the behavior charged as a crime. See State v.

Berriozabal, 291 Kan. 568, 586, 243 P.3d 352 (2010). Continuing a sexual encounter after a participant withdraws their consent transforms it into a sexual assault. See Flynn, 299 Kan. at 1066-67. And at least one panel of this Court has rejected an implied-consent challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence for rape. State v. Quintero, No. 96,786, 2008 WL 2186070, at *8 (Kan. App. 2008) (unpublished opinion). While not directly on point, the court easily found that the victim's testimony did not support this argument. 2008 WL 2186070, at *8.

A misstatement of law by the prosecutor denies the defendant a fair trial when it confuses or misleads the jury in some manner. *State v. Hall*, 292 Kan. 841, 849, 257 P.3d 272 (2011). The nature of Chang's argument and the prevailing caselaw suggests that the prosecutor's comments are not misleading. Undoubtedly, an individual can consent to sexual activity through a variety of nonverbal cues. But nonverbal consent is still, by definition, consent. Muddying this concept by suggesting there is a second, more malleable kind of consent is not only contrary our Kansas law, but it runs the very real risk of confusing the jury. In the end, the comments at issue simply existed to unravel Chang's claim that his perception of consent controlled the outcome of the case and to clarify the nature of consent in Kansas.

Regardless, any potential errors stemming from the State's closing argument are harmless. As a rule, "prosecutorial error is harmless if the State proves beyond a reasonable doubt that the error . . . did not affect the outcome of the trial in light of the entire record." *State v. Sean*, 306 Kan. 963, 973, 399 P.3d 168 (2017) (internal quotation marks omitted). As explained

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